### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID B. RUSS,	)
	)
Appellant,	)
	)
VS.	)
	)
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
	)
Appellee.	)
	_)

CASE NO. SC09-923

### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 249238 444 Seabreeze Blvd. - Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118-3941 (386) 252-3367

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

# **

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

In this brief, the symbol "R" will designate page numbers of the pleadings in the record on appeal, and the symbol "T" will designate the pages of the transcripts (numbered separately from the pleadings), as renumbered (in certain instances) by the clerk's office. Volumes will be referenced according to the sequential numbers assigned by the clerk's office for the entire record on appeal, and not by the numbering of the court reporters.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The State charged the Appellant, David B. Russ, by indictment and amended indictment with the May 7-8, 2007, first-degree murder of Madeleine Leinen (by stabbing), kidnapping with a weapon, carjacking with a deadly weapon, robbery with a deadly weapon, and burglary of a dwelling with an assault or battery. (Vol. 1, R 14.1-14.2, 171) The state filed its Notice to Seek the Death Penalty (Vol. 1, R 34), and the defendant entered a plea of not guilty to the original charges and stood "moot" (sic) to the amended indictment. (Vol. 1, R 33)

The defense unsuccessfully contested the legality of Florida's death penalty. (Vol. 1, R 48-51, 58-59, 60-61, 72-74, 75-76) The defense moved to prohibit victim impact evidence, which the court denied, and later stipulated to the contents of a prepared victim impact statement by the victim's sister. (Vol. 1, R 46-47, 70-71, 162; Vol. 11, T 245-251)

The defendant entered a plea of guilty to first degree murder, kidnapping with a weapon, grand theft auto (as the Count 3 charge was amended by the state), robbery with a deadly weapon, and burglary of a dwelling with an assault or battery. (Vol. 1, R 176-180; Vol. 12, T 426-448) He was found competent to and did waive a sentencing jury and his counsel's presentation of mitigation at the penalty phase. (Vol. 1. R 186-187, 192-193, 194-195, 196-197) As required by

law, the court had the defendant's assistant public defender announce to the court and the defendant the mitigating evidence his office had discovered and was prepared to present on the defendant's part, but for the waiver. (Vol. 12, T 504) Included in the list of mitigating evidence were:

1. Numerous witnesses, including defense expert, Dr. Day, regarding Russ's extreme and genuine remorse;

2. Testimony, including that of jail officials, regarding Russ's volunteering on over fourteen occasions for Operation Right Track Program in jail, speaking to juvenile offenders, and the officials' appreciation and request for continuing involvement (and possibly developing testimony from some of the juveniles involved as to the defendant's impact on them);

3. Witnesses, including his mother, Beth Webster, and his sister, Melissa, to the defendant's "horrific" beatings as a child by his father for no apparent reason, and to the mother's beatings while pregnant with Russ;

4. Evidence of mental illness in the defendant's family, including his father;

5. Evidence of psychological torture from his father, including the testimony of Russ's half-sister, Mickey;

6. Testimony regarding Russ's movement from foster home to foster home;

7. Copies of a psychological evaluation from 1978 when he was sixteen;

8. Family member testimony, including Russ's sisters and his former wife, Amelia Austin;

9. Testimony of the defendant's former youth baseball Coach Thomason from Polk County about Russ's father beating the defendant for playing poorly;

10. Testimony of Russ's two former step-mothers, Marie and Jill;

11. Testimony of the retired professor from Texas where the defendant was enrolled in the Study of Addictions program;

12. Evidence of Russ's efforts at rehabilitation;

13. Witnesses from the Prison Ministry;

14. Presentation of a television broadcast of Russ speaking of the dangers of drug usage at the behest of an Austin, Texas city councilman;

15. Employment accounts that Russ was a good employee at a roofing company until he experienced his drug problems;

16. Testimony regarding his employment at One Source Roofing in Florida just prior to this crime;

17. Georgia prison records indicating head injuries while imprisoned there;

18. Testimony of psychologist Dr. Deborah Day pertaining to the psychological impact of Russ's upbringing and his ability to function into adulthood;

19. Testimony of former girlfriends, Anita Scott (with whom Russ lived about six months prior to the murder) and Kimberly Williams (his fiancee at the time of the killing);

20. Records regarding Russ's injuries and 10-day hospitalization following a car accident in South Dakota.

(Vol. 12, T 504-523, 530)

Russ's public defender also was prepared to present the testimony of Dr. Marraccini, a forensic pathologist, to rebut the potential aggravating circumstances of cold, calculated, and premeditated; and heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and testimony of the state's medical examiner. (Vol. 12, T 525-526) The trial court also ordered an extensive Pre-Sentence Investigation due to the waiver of mitigation. (Vol. 12, T 535-536)

Recognizing the need for the presentation of mitigation evidence for the benefit of the court in determining the appropriate sentence, the court appointed Regional Conflict Counsel to present such evidence on behalf of the court. (Vol. 1, R 196-197, 198) At a status conference on August 7, 2008, it was announced that Russ refused to be interviewed by a defense psychologist, Dr. Charles Golden, and also refused to undergo a PET-Scan. (Vol. 13, T 563-564, 567) When special counsel announced ready for the penalty phase trial and indicated that it would need only a day to present mitigation, Russ's public defenders voiced some concerns about additional mitigating evidence that would take longer than a day to present and witnesses being available that special counsel had not subpoenaed, and announced to the court that special counsel had not yet spoken with them regarding the evidence they had previously uncovered in mitigation. (Vol. 13, T 566-570)

The penalty phase trial commenced before the Honorable Marlene M. Alva, Judge of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Seminole County, on January 8, 2009. (Vol. 10-11)<sup>1</sup> Included in the evidence presented by the state was a hand-written letter from the defendant to the judge, announcing again his desire to waive mitigation as "I do not deserve or desire anyone to present mitigating evidence concerning my past. Especially for the sake of the surviving family members and friends of the victim," and concluding, "I am not the victim." (Vol. 2, R 199-200) Feeling compelled to share with the judge the events of his case, and so that "Whatever you decide will be decided by facts, by truth," he outlined in the letter his "actions prior to, the day of, and the days following the murder," the facts he had shared with no one previously. (Vol. 2, R 200, 206) Regional conflict

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The state proffered and presented evidence, over special counsel's objections, regarding a burglary committed by the defendant in Texas after the instant murder, which evidence, the trial court later ruled, would not be considered by the court as it was irrelevant. (Vol. 9, R; Vol. 10, T 16-65)

counsel participated in the presentation of evidence at the penalty phase on behalf of the court, which evidence included the unembellished introduction of prison medical records from previous incarcerations (all for non-violent offenses to pay for his drug habit), cross-examination of state witness, Kimberly Williams (the defendant's former fiancee), and the testimony of three witnesses: a private investigator who collected the prison and college records and merely identified them, the defendant's step-mother from 1974-1981, Marie Jackson, and the defendant's older brother, Aaron. (Vol. 11, T 255-284) Conflict counsel argued against the imposition of the death penalty, presenting no argument as to statutory mitigating circumstances, but noting the defendant's severe cocaine addiction prior to the killing, his severe physical and verbal abuse as a child from his father, his loving relationship with his brother, Russ's multiple attempts to cure his addiction, the defendant's acceptance of responsibility for the crimes, his appropriate courtroom behavior, his obtaining of a GED, his employment as a roofer, Russ's current state of depression, his training in counseling, his father-figure relationship with his fiancee's son and his caring help for her 80-year-old aunt (both prior to his recent relapse into his drug addiction), his lack of any violent criminal history, and the defendant's desire to not have to put anyone through the penalty proceedings. (Vol. 11, T 311-328)

7

A *Spencer* hearing was held on January 15, 2009, with an additional exhibit being placed into evidence by the special counsel (without elaboration or argument), a letter from a women, Donna Jenkins, regarding her visits with Russ in jail, outlining his remorse, shame, and spiritual ministering to other inmates, including her son, about addiction. (Vol. 9, 1615) David Russ also took the opportunity to personally apologize to the victim's family, asking them to forgive, not for his benefit, "but for their own benefit." (Vol. 13, T 612, 614)

At the sentencing hearing of May 13, 2009, the trial court sentenced the defendant to death for the first degree murder. (Vol. Vol. 13, T 619) In its sentencing order, the court found that the state had proven four aggravating circumstances: that the killing was committed during the commission of a kidnapping [§921.141(5)(d)] (assigning it significant weight); the murder was committed for pecuniary gain [§921.141(5)(f)] (moderate weight); the killing was heinous, atrocious, or cruel [§921.141(5)(h)] (great weight); and it was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner [§921.141(5)(j)] (great weight). (Vol. 9, R 1640-1648)

With regard to statutory mitigation, the court noted that no evidence of any of the listed circumstances were presented or argued. (Vol. 9, R 1648) The court found as mitigation under §921.141(6)(h)'s "any other factors" that the defendant

had received neglectful treatment from his mother and an abusive childhood at the hands of his father, including routine and severe beatings with pots, pans, a baseball bat, a garden stake, and a garden hose. A beating at age thirteen, finally resulted in a neighbor calling the police and the defendant and his brother being removed from the home and placed in separate foster care homes. (Vol. 9, R 1648) The abusive and neglectful treatment, and the ensuing placement in foster care, "negatively impacted the Defendant," the court concluded, resulting in Russ being "very frightened of his father as a child and increasingly angry and rebellious as he got older." (Vol. 9, R 1649) The court assigned this mitigation "moderate" weight. (Vol. 9, R 1649)

In mitigation, the trial court also specified Russ's "sever, long term addiction to drugs which he has been unable to conquer despite numerous attempts at rehabilitation," noting the defendant's acknowledgment of cocaine use starting at age twenty and, in the defendant's own words, a "progressive pattern of lying, cheating, and stealing, just to get more cocaine." (Vol. 9, R 1649) The court detailed Russ's efforts to address his addiction, including inpatient and outpatient treatment programs both in and out of custody, even attending Texas Tech University's substance abuse counseling program to become a counselor. (Vol. 9, R 1649) While clean from drugs, the court recounted, the defendant was earning a good income as a roofer, and was "a fully contributing member of the household," until a few months before the crimes here, he relapsed into cocaine use, which escalated to a \$500 to \$600 per week habit, and continued, during the ten days prior to the murder, with the nonstop smoking of crack cocaine. (Vol. 9, R 1649) The court noted that no evidence had been presented as to what effect the defendant's cocaine usage and binging in the days prior to the murder had on his behavior, other than the fact that it "no doubt motivated the Defendant's actions and behavior on May 7, 2007." (Vol. 9, R 1650) The court concluded this mitigator was present and assigned it "some" weight. (Vol. 9, R 1650)

The sentencing order continued on to analyze various mitigation presented by counsel in the sentencing memorandum, finding that Russ's "expressions of remorse through his words, actions, and demeanor," including his desire to minimize further suffering by the victim's family and friends, "are genuine." (Vol. 9, R 1650) While amplifying the various circumstances of Russ's remorse, including his full acceptance of responsibility for and the consequences of his actions, the court, without further explanation, allocated it "moderate" weight in mitigation. (Vol. 9, R 1650) Also found as nonstatutory mitigation by the trial court were the defendant's multiple medical problems recorded by Texas and local correctional facilities ("very little weight" inasmuch as no evidence was presented that any of these conditions affected his actions in the murder); Russ's capacity to form and maintain loving and caring relationships with both family and non-family members ("little weight"); the defendant's pursuit of higher education (substance abuse studies) and his labor skills as a roofer ("little weight"); his lack of any violent criminal history ("minimal value" and "little weight" "when viewed in the context of the facts in this case and [his] lengthy criminal history"); the defendant's appropriate courtroom behavior ("little weight"), and Russ's 1997 written expressions of gratitude to his scholarship donors for his college substance abuse education ("very little weight" as it "appears [such letters] were academically mandatory" and "not spontaneously generated"). (Vol. 9, R 1651-1653)

The court concluded that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances and sentenced Russ to death for the first-degree murder. (Vol. 9, R 1653) The court further sentenced him to three terms of life and one five-year term of imprisonment for the remaining four counts, all to run concurrently. (Vol. 9, R 1653-1654; 1658-1664)

Notice of appeal was filed. (Vol. 9, R 1669-1670) This appeal follows.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The following facts regarding the crime and penalty considerations are derived from the testimony at the penalty phase trial (Vols. 10 & 11), and from the defendant's handwritten letter to the court dated May 15, 2008, (Vol. 2, R 199-206), which was introduced into evidence by the state at the penalty phase, and upon which the trial court relied extensively in its sentencing order. (Vol. 2, R 1641)

Around 10:30 p.m. on the evening of May 6, 2007, Longwood Police Officer Bradley Tollas observed a Jeep Cherokee in the parking lot of a closed business . (Vol. 10, T 45-46) Investigating, he approached the vehicle, seeing the driver and sole occupant, the defendant, David Russ, asleep inside. (Vol. 10, T 46-47)

Russ, a reformed cocaine addict, had been living in a loving, caring, contributing relationship with his fiancee, Kimberly Williams, her son, and her 80year-old mother, but had relapsed and had been getting high for the few months previous. (Vol. 2, R 203) The last ten days leading up to the murder, Russ had been "24-7 non-stop getting high, smoking crack. No sleep, no food, no shower," when he had pulled into the parking lot, and fell asleep, with cocaine and a crack pipe in his center console. (Vol. 2, R 203) Shining his flashlight into the car, Officer Tollas knocked on the window, and Russ responded to the officer's inquiry that he was okay. (Vol. 10, T 47-48; Vol. 2, R 203)<sup>2</sup> Upon the officer's request that he roll down the window, the defendant started his car and took off at a high rate of speed, with Officer Tollas in pursuit. (Vol. 10, T 48-50; Vol. 2 R 204) Russ recounted that he "was willing to do anything at the time to continue getting high." (Vol. 2, R 204) When the defendant was quite some distance from the pursuing office, he turned into the Meadows West subdivision, where the victim lived, slid to a stop, and, abandoning the vehicle, absconded on foot. (Vol. 10, T 50; Vol. 2 R 204)

When police caught up with the car, they observed it rolling slowly, prior to it coming to a complete stop. (Vol. 10, T 50-51) No one was found inside the vehicle and Russ was not located after a search of the immediate area near the car, which was abandoned approximately one block from Madeleine Leinen's home. (Vol. 10, T 51-52)

After fleeing on foot, the defendant spent the night on the rooftop of a house adjacent to the victim's, from which vantage point, he saw police tow his Jeep. (Vol. 2, R 204) Dressed only in shorts, a t-shirt and tennis shoes, with the weather

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Russ writes in his letter that he wishes he could tell the court that he did not remember the events, but he admits to remembering "most" of what he did. (Vol. 2, R 204)

cold, windy, and misting on that rooftop, he passed out. (Vol. 2, R 204) Russ awoke at dawn, and observed 58-year-old Madeleine Leinen leave for work. (Vol. 2, R 204) Russ acknowledges in his letter to the court that he chose Leinen for his victim "at that exact moment." (Vol. 2, R 204)<sup>3</sup>

The defendant entered Leinen's home where he ate, showered, laundered his clothes, and went through the house, packing jewelry, cash, and a credit card with what he believed to be a valid PIN. (Vol. 2, R 204) Needing transportation, he then awaited Leinen's return to take her automobile. (Vol. 2, R 205)

Madeleine Leinen returned home shortly after 6:00 p.m. via Sam's Club, where she had purchased both perishable and nonperishable items. (Vol. 10, T 146)<sup>4</sup> Frozen shrimp, which had been purchased at Sam's, had been placed in the freezer and other items purchased were found on a box in the garage and on the kitchen counter. (Vol. 10, T 134-135)

After killing the victim, the defendant took her car and drove to a credit union in Apopka, approximately a 20 minute drive from the Leinen home, where

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The defendant does not discuss any details of the murder in his letter (Vol. 2, R 203-205), so it is just as possible that, at this time, the defendant meant her as his victim for simply a nonviolent burglary and theft (his usual crimes to support his severe and expensive drug habit [Vol. 2, R 204-205]), which later escalated into the robbery and murder.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Sam's receipt, found on the kitchen counter, was printed at 5:35 p.m., and the victim was observed on video surveillance tapes exiting the store and approaching her car at

he was captured by a video surveillance camera at 6:46 p.m. unsuccessfully attempting to withdraw money from her account at the automated teller machine, the failed transaction receipt indicating an invalid PIN. (Vol. 10, T 138, 145, 157, 167-168) Russ next drove straight to a "crack neighborhood," where he purchased more crack cocaine and a pipe. (Vol. 2, R 205) Leaving Florida for Texas, he pawned Leinen's jewelry in various cities, purchasing still more crack cocaine along the way. (Vol. 2, R 205) Some of the jewelry was recovered at a pawn shop in Denton, Texas, where the defendant had pawned them on May 11, 2007. (Vol. 10, T 158-159)

On the morning of May 8, 2007, after being unable to contact her, a family friend went to the victim's home and, after forcibly entering the house by "popping" the door with a tire iron, discovered her body facedown on the floor of a hall bathroom, with her hands and feet bound and a rope ligature around her neck. (Vol. 10, T 104-110, 118-123) The friend had also noticed that Leinen's dog had defecated in the home, which was unusual, and that her car was missing. (Vol. 10, T 122, 124) He phoned 911 from the victim's home and the police responded. (Vol. 10, T 123-124)

<sup>5:37-5:38</sup> p.m. (Vol. 10, T 146) The store was approximately 15-20 minutes from Leinen's home. (Vol. 10, T 145)

Police observed that Leinen was fully clothed, she was still wearing a gold chain and a large amount of other jewelry, including bracelets, rings, and a watch, and the home was neat, with no indication of a struggle. (Vol. 10, T 133, 165-166; Addendum to Supplemental Record, R 630) An empty knife slot was observed in the butcher block in the kitchen. (Vol. 10, T 134) There were no signs of blood anywhere in the home, except for the bathroom where the killing occurred and a footprint impression, presumably the defendant's, in the garage. (Vol. 10, T 133, 164-165)

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