IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-923

DAVID BYRON RUSS, Appellant, v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar #410519 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., 5th Floor DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32118 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The evidence indicates the victim's murder was not a spontaneous or impulsive act. Nor was it done in a frenzy or rage. While the evidence establishes the Defendant had been using crack cocaine heavily in the days preceding May 7, 2007, there was no evidence that the Defendant was under the influence of drugs at the time of the murder. Rather, Madeleine Leinen's murder was the product of the Defendant's prearranged design. He had selected her as his victim early that morning. He waited hours for her to return home. Prior to her murder he procured two types of rope and a knife to execute his plan. The absence of any signs of a struggle and the lack of defensive wounds on the victim indicate she offered no resistance. Once in the bathroom, the Defendant meticulously tied Leinen's hands and feet and used three different means to ensure her death. Undoubtedly, many of the victim's wounds occurred as she lay bound and helpless on the floor. No evidence of moral or legal justification was presented or argued.

The Court finds the above stated evidence⁸ establishes this aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt, and it is given great weight.

⁸ During the penalty phase, in support of this aggravator, the State introduced evidence of a residential burglary in Texas which occurred May 14, 2007, days after the Leinen murder. The Court has not considered that evidence in determining proof of the existence of this factor. Given the date of that offense, it is not relevant to prove heightened premeditation or prearranged design or plan to commit the murder in this case.

(V9, R1646-1648).

This Court's review of a trial court's finding regarding an aggravator is limited to whether the trial court applies the correct law and whether its finding is supported by competent, substantial evidence. *Willacy v. State*, 696 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla. 1997); *see also Cave v. State*, 727 So. 2d 227, 230 (Fla. 1998). The trial court's findings are supported by the evidence and should be affirmed.

<u>Heinous, atrocious and cruel.</u> Russ challenges the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravating circumstance because Russ did not *intend* to inflict a high degree of pain. (Initial Brief at 47). This argument has been rejected repeatedly by this Court. In *Lynch v. State*, 841 So. 2d 362, 369 (Fla. 2003), this Court held that

when the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator is analyzed, the focus is not on the intent of the assailant, but on the actual suffering caused to the victim. In determining whether the HAC factor was present, the focus should be upon the victim's perceptions of the circumstances as opposed to those of the perpetrator. See Schoenwetter v. State, 931 So. 2d 857, 874 (Fla. 2006); Farina v. State, 801 So. 2d 44, 53 (Fla. 2001). The victim's mental state may be evaluated in accordance with common-sense inferences from the circumstances. Swafford, 533 So. 2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988) (citing Preston v. State, 444 So. 2d 939, 946 (Fla. 1984)). This Court has also held that to support this aggravator, the evidence must demonstrate that the victim was conscious and aware of impending death. Douglas v. State, 878 So. 2d 1246, 1261 (Fla. 2004). However, the actual length of the victim's consciousness is not the only factor relevant to this aggravating circumstance. Beasley v. State, 774 So. 2d 649, 669 (Fla. 2000). "[F]ear, emotional strain, and terror of the victim during the events leading up to the murder may make an otherwise quick death especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel." James v. State, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1235 (Fla. 1997). This Court has further held that the actions of the defendant preceding the actual killing are also relevant. Gore v. State, 706 So. 2d 1328, 1335 (Fla.1997) (citing Swafford, 533 So. 2d at 277, and Smith v. State, 424 So. 2d 726, 733 (Fla.1982)).

In Hernandez v. State, 4 So. 3d 642, 669-671 (Fla. 2009), the defendant argued that because the evidence was inconclusive regarding whether the victim was conscious when he cut her neck, the finding of the HAC aggravator was improper. This court held that the argument "ignores the entire context within which the murder occurred." Similar to the present case, the victim in *Hernandez* was grabbed by the head and forced into her home. Her face was covered with a pillow in an attempt to suffocate her while her arms and hands were held to immobilize her. The victim's her nose, lips, and eyes contained large dark bruises which indicated that extreme force was used against her when she was grabbed by the face, or during the attempted suffocation, or both. Hernandez was unable to suffocate the victim, so he twisted her neck, then cut her throat. The medical examiner could neither rule out nor confirm whether the victim could feel pain associated with the neck wound. The victim bled profusely, which indicated that her heart was beating when she was stabbed. This Court found HAC appropriate, citing Lott v. State, 695 So. 2d 1239 (Fla.1997).

In *Lott*, the defendant argued that because the victim may have been unconscious at the time of the fatal attack, the HAC aggravator was not proven beyond a reasonable doubt. However, the facts showed that from the minute Defendant entered the home until the victim was choked into unconsciousness, she suffered unspeakable humiliation, terror, and pain. Her mouth, wrist, and ankles were taped making her totally defenseless. Ultimately, the defendant slashed her throat. This Court rejected the defendant's argument on appeal, explaining that "[a]lthough [the victim] may not have been conscious at the time that Lott made the fatal slash which caused her death, the physical torture and emotional trauma she suffered during the time leading up to her death justify application of the HAC aggravator." *Id.*

Russ also argues that there are no signs of defensive wounds or a struggle, thus Ms. Leinen could not have felt mental anguish. (Initial Brief at 48). Ms. Leinen was tied up so forcefully it dislocated both clavicles. She was beaten about the fact and two ribs broken. She was laid on her face, which the medical examiner said would be extremely uncomfortable given the victim's weight and height. Thus, the victim was completely helpless and in pain as Russ implemented various forms of torture on her until he managed to kill her. Ms. Leinen was subjected to the terror of a stranger in her home accosting her and tying her up. The bindings were so tight, the victim's hands were swelling and bruised. She was forced to lay on her stomach while Russ attacked from behind. Although Russ argues that the victim could have been rendered unconscious at any point, it defies logic that Russ would continue seeking out various methods of killing if the victim were incapacitated. The fear and emotional strain Ms. Leinen felt was abhorrent and prolonged. This Court has held that even 30 to 60 seconds of terror supports the

HAC aggravating circumstance. See Rolling v. State, 695 So. 2d 278, 296 (Fla.

1997). This Court recently explained:

With respect to the HAC aggravator, this Court has held that "fear, emotional strain, and terror of the victim during the events leading up to the murder may make an otherwise quick death especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel." James v. State, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1235 (Fla. 1997). This Court has also held that "the HAC aggravator focuses on the means and manner in which death is inflicted and the immediate circumstances surrounding the death." Brown v. State, 721 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla.1998). Furthermore, "the victim's mental state may be evaluated for purposes of such determination in accordance with a common-sense inference from the circumstances." Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988); see also Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362, 369 (Fla. 2003) ("[T]he focus should be upon the victim's perception of the circumstances...."). And, in Buzia v. State, 926 So. 2d 1203, 1214 (Fla. 2006), this Court upheld the finding of the HAC aggravator and stated: "Whether this state of consciousness lasted minutes or seconds, he was 'acutely aware' of his 'impending death."" We have upheld the HAC aggravator where the victim was conscious for merely seconds."

Aguirre-Jarquin v. State, 9 So. 3d 593, 608-609 (Fla. 2009). *See also Francis v. State*, 808 So. 2d 110, 135 (Fla. 2001) (sisters killed in presence of each other could have remained conscious for as little as a few seconds and for as long as a few minutes); *Peavy v. State*, 442 So. 2d 200, 202-03 (Fla.1983) (upholding finding of HAC where medical examiner testified that victim lost consciousness within seconds and bled to death in a minute or less and there were no defensive wounds).

The fact that Russ used multiple weapons leads to the reasonable conclusion that no one weapon was successful in satisfactorily subduing the victim. If the victim were unconscious, there would be no further need to stab, strangle, and beat her. This case is textbook HAC. See Geralds v. State, 674 So. 2d 96, 103 (Fla. 1996) (swollen condition hands established victim bound with plastic ties around her wrists for at least twenty minutes prior to her death; victim severely beaten prior to death as evidenced by the bruises and cuts on various parts of her face and chest area; evidence of 10 to 15 blunt force injuries; bruises indicated the blows were sufficient to knock her down and/or render her unconscious; victim stabbed three times in the neck); Perry v. State, 522 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 1988) (victim "brutally beaten in the head and face" and "choked and repeatedly stabbed in the chest and breasts; victim "died of strangulation associated with stab wounds); Hardwick v. State, 521 So. 2d 1071 (Fla.) (finding evidence supported heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator when victim became unconscious within five to six minutes of being stabbed three times in chest and back, then shot in back and then struck about head); Preston v. State, 444 So. 2d 939, 945-46 (Fla.1984) (holding murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel where, after robbing store, defendant forced victim to accompany him on mile and a half journey, then forced her to walk at knifepoint for 500 feet, though victim may not have been aware of wounds inflicted after defendant's initial slashing of her throat which severed jugular vein,

trachea, and other main arteries of neck); *Geralds v. State*, 674 So. 2d 96, 102 -103 (Fla. 1996); *Taylor v. State*, 630 So. 2d 1038, 1042-43 (Fla.1993) (heinous, atrocious, aggravator supported by the evidence despite fact appellant contended there was no evidence victim was conscious or endured great pain or mental anguish during the murder; victim stabbed at least twenty times with two different weapons and suffered twenty-one other lacerations, bruises, and wounds, and received several blows to her head and face from blunt objects); *Allen v. State*, 662 So. 2d 323, 331 (Fla.1995) (as in *Taylor*, the medical examiner in Allen testified that the victim was "alive" when she was beaten repeatedly).

The trial judge held:

In determining whether this aggravating circumstance has been proved the Court considered the means and manner by which the Defendant caused Madeleine Leinen's death and the immediate circumstances surrounding it.

Dr. Marie Hermann, the medical examiner, testified the victim suffered three lacerations to the head as a result of blunt force trauma. The lacerations caused the scalp to separate from the skull. The bleeding under the scalp indicated the victim was alive when these blows were inflicted, although any one of the blows could have rendered her unconscious.

Four stab wounds were also indentified, three to the victim's back and one to her head. A weapon with two sharp edges, most likely a knife, was used to inflict all four wounds. Bleeding into tissue surrounding these wounds indicates the victim was alive when she was stabbed. The stab wounds could have caused a loss of consciousness, but Dr. Hermann was unable to establish a time parameter as to when such loss might have occurred. The front, sides, and back of the victim's neck had abrasion furrows and scraped skin.⁵ Petechial hemorrhaging in her eyes was also observed. These injuries resulted from the great pressure applied to the victim's neck with the ligature. The appearance of the abrasions indicated that these injuries were sustained while Leinen was alive. Dr. Hermann opined the victim was conscious for at least 10 - 13seconds after the complete compression of her blood vessels, and would have suffered a significant amount of discomfort during the strangulation.

⁵State's Exhibits #96, #97, #98, and #99.

In addition to the injuries which contributed to Leinen's death, numerous less serious injuries were observed. Bruising, and a laceration to the brow ridge of the victim's right eye, were the result of a significant blow to the eye while she was still alive. Fractured ribs, contusions to both lips and the right cheek, as well as a chipped tooth were also noted.

Due to the victim's size, her clavicle was dislocated on both sides when her hands were pulled down and bound behind her back. While alive, her hands were so tightly bound that the lack of blood circulation caused them to become puffy and extremely discolored.⁶ Dr. Hermann testified that these conditions would have been painful to the victim. In addition, being positioned on her stomach would have caused the victim to experience a suffocating sensation because her large abdomen and chest would have limited the ability of her diaphragm to move.

⁶State's Exhibit #111.

A finding that the murder of Madeleine Leinen was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel is supported by the following evidence:

1. The evidence proves the victim was beaten, strangled, and stabbed four times. The medical examiner, while unable to affix unconsciousness at any particular point, testified the victim was alive when the stab wounds, blows to the head, and strangulation occurred. *Willacy v. State*, 696 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1997). *Taylor v. State*, 630 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 1994). Indeed, it has been previously held that strangulation alone creates a

prima facie case for this aggravating factor. *Orme v. State*, 677 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 1996).

2. The evidence supports a finding that her hands and feet were bound while most of these painful injuries were inflicted.

3. Even if she was conscious only briefly, the terror the victim must have felt while tied up and powerless to stop her own murder, is almost unimaginable. *Beasley v. State*, 774 So. 2d 649 (Fla. 2000).

For the above reasons, Leinen's murder falls well within the definition of the terms heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and the Court finds this aggravating circumstance has been established beyond a reasonable doubt and gives it great weight.

(V9, R1644-46). These findings are supported by competent substantial evidence,

and the HAC aggravating circumstance should be affirmed.

<u>Harmless error</u>. Even if this Court struck CCP or HAC, the death sentence would stand. When this Court strikes an aggravating factor on appeal, the harmless error test is applied to determine whether there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the sentence. *Williams v. State*, 967 So. 2d 735, 765 (Fla. 2007) (quoting *Jennings v. State*, 782 So.2d 853, 863 n. 9 (Fla. 2001)).

In *McWatters v. State*, 35 Fla. L. Weekly S169 (Fla. Mar. 18, 2010), this Court struck CCP for one of the three murders, but noted that three strong aggravating factors remained: (1) McWatters was convicted of prior violent and capital felonies (contemporaneous murders and sexual batteries); (2) the capital felony was committed while in the attempt, commission, or flight from a sexual battery; and (3) HAC. In the present case, there is no reasonable possibility that the trial court would have imposed a different sentence had it not considered CCP. Thus, any error in finding CCP was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See also Geralds v. State*, 674 So. 2d 96, 104 (Fla. 1996) (erroneous finding of CCP harmless based on two valid aggravators-that the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and that the murder was committed during a robbery/burglary); *Chamberlain v. State*, 881 So. 2d 1087, 1107 (Fla. 2004) (holding trial court's erroneous finding of CCP harmless because four aggravating factors remained); *Sireci v. Moore*, 825 So. 2d 882, 887 (Fla.2002) (holding that even if the evidence was insufficient to support CCP, such error would be harmless because four aggravating factors remained).

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